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William Bulfin was; a journalist, travel 
writer and proud Irish Nationalist, who 
was born in Derrinlough, Co Offaly in 
1864, the fourth son in a family of nine 
boys and one girl, the children of 
William Bulfin, of Derrinlough, in William Bulfin, of Derrinlough, in 
Offaly, and Ellen Grogan of Croghan, 
Offaly. He attended the Classical 
Academy and the Presentation Schools 
in Birr, and the Royal Charter School at 
Banagher when it was under the 
head-mastership of Dr. King Joyce. 
His maternal uncle, Father Vincent His maternal uncle, Father Vincent 
Grogan, was Provincial for the 
Passionist Fathers of a province that 
included a monastery in Buenos Aries. 

William Bulfin, the younger, emigrated to Argentina in 1884, with his 
elder brother, Peter. But they turned their backs on the city, and moved 
on out to the Pampas. Hundreds of Irish emigrants from Longford and 
Westmeath had already settled in Argentina. They had with them letters 
of introduction to the Passionist Fathers in Buenos Aires. The Bulfins 
went to the ranch (estancia) of one of these, Juan Dowling, a native of 
Longford. There he met the woman whom he would eventually marry, 
Anne O’Rourke (originally from Ballacurra in Westmeath). Out on the Anne O’Rourke (originally from Ballacurra in Westmeath). Out on the 
pampas his preference was for the company of either the gauchos or the 
Irish, and observing both his own fellow countrymen and the hard-riding 
Spanish-Indian cowboys, he began to write homely sketches and stories 
about their lives for Southern Cross, a weekly paper in Buenos Aires, 
owned and edited by Michael Dineen from Cork.
Having returned from Argentina in 1902, William set off on a journey 
that took him through the highways and byways of Ireland on a steel 
framed bicycle made by Pierce Ironworks in Wexford.
Rambles in Eirinn” is an insightful book written by William Bulfin 
about his cycling experience. The travelogue was published in 1907 and 
proved  to be a resounding success, extending to a 4th edition in 1915.

William Bulfin



The book paints a vivid picture of the history and heritage of the Irish countryside, 
just after the turn of the 20th century. Bulfin had an intimate knowledge of the Irish 
landscape along with an innate passion for the historical importance and heritage 
value of places such as Tara, Skryne Valley,Vinegar Hill, the old Monastery of 
Roscrea, The Rock of Dunamase, Slievenamon and The Glen of Aherlow. For him 
these places were sacred ground, evidenced of a land that existed long before his 
time.

“The more you see of Ireland the more cautious you 
become about making any definite statement as to 

which part of it is the most beautiful.”

William Bulfin



Durrow, Co. Laois.  The great oak forests that once covered ancient Ireland 
gave Durrow its name, which comes from Daurmagh Ua nDuach, or the Oak 
Plain of the people known as the Uí Duach. The Normans adapted that name 
to Durrow when they founded a borough on the Erkina River in the early 
1200’s. This small, self-governed settlement was so successful that in 1245, 
King Henry III granted Geoffrey de Turville, Bishop of Ossory, the right to 
hold a yearly fair in Durrow, as well as a market every Thursday. The way 
Durrow looks today is largely due to the Flower Family, Viscounts Durrow looks today is largely due to the Flower Family, Viscounts 
Ashbrook, who gained ownership of the town in the early 1700s. They built 
Castle Durrow and granted permits for many of the fine Georgian and 
Victorian houses that still line Durrow’s streets.
Over the next two centuries, Durrow prospered. Stagecoaches rattled over the 
bridge and stopped at the nearby coach house. Local businesses sprang up, 
including a brewery, a flour mill, a malting enterprise and a factory that made 
high quality bricks and tiles. Durrow was hit hard by the great cholera 
outbreak of 1832, but managed to bounce back and thrive. Years of 
development meant that by 1926, only a fraction of Durrow’s forests 
remained. In recent years local people have worked to preserve Durrow’s remained. In recent years local people have worked to preserve Durrow’s 
beautiful setting, as well as its architecture.  Today, visitors can enjoy 
woodland walks as well as strolls down Durrow’s fine streets.

Durrow
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